

Title: Time to get serious about the detection and monitoring of early lung disease in cystic fibrosis

Proceedings of the international SHIFT Meeting: Shaping imaging and functional testing for early detection of lung disease in Cystic Fibrosis at the Australasian Cystic Fibrosis Conference 2019.

Authors:

Katie J Bayfield^{1,*}

Tonia A Douglas^{2,3*}

Tim Rosenow^{4,5,6}

Jane C Davies^{7,8}

J. Stuart Elborn⁹

Marcus A Mall^{10,11,12}

Anthony Paproki¹³

Felix Ratjen^{14,15}

Peter D Sly¹⁶

Alan R Smyth¹⁷

Steve M Stick^{4,5,18}

Claire E Wainwright^{2,3}

Paul D Robinson^{1,19,20}

Affiliations:

1. Department of Respiratory Medicine, The Children's Hospital at Westmead, Westmead, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia
2. Department of Respiratory and Sleep Medicine, Queensland Children's Hospital, South Brisbane, Queensland, Australia
3. Child Health Research Centre, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Queensland, Australia
4. Telethon Kids Institute, The University of Western Australia, Perth, Western Australia, Australia
5. Centre for Child Health Research, University of Western Australia, Perth, Western Australia, Australia

6. Centre for Microscopy, Characterisation and Analysis, The University of Western Australia, Crawley, Western Australia, Australia
7. National Heart and Lung Institute, Imperial College London, , United Kingdom
8. Department of Paediatric Respiratory Medicine, Royal Brompton & Harefield NHS Foundation Trust, London United Kingdom.
9. Centre for Infection and Immunity, School of Medicine, Dentistry and Biomedical Sciences, Queen's University Belfast, Belfast, UK
10. Department of Pediatric Pulmonology, Immunology, and Critical Care Medicine, Charité - Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany
11. Berlin Institute of Health (BIH), Berlin, Germany
12. German Center for Lung Research (DZL), Berlin, Germany
13. Biomedical Engineering, Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane, Queensland, Australia
14. Translational Medicine, Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, Canada.
15. University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada
16. Children's Health and Environment Program, Child Health Research Centre, The University of Queensland, South Brisbane, Qld, Australia
17. Division of Child Health, Obstetrics & Gynaecology (COG), School of Medicine, University of Nottingham, UK
18. Department of Respiratory Medicine, Princess Margaret Hospital for Children, Perth, Western Australia, Australia
19. Airway Physiology and Imaging Group, The Woolcock Institute of Medical Research, The University of Sydney, Glebe, New South Wales, Australia
20. The Discipline of Paediatrics and Child Health, The University of Sydney, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia

*Contributed equally as first authors

Corresponding author:

Dr Paul D Robinson, Department of Respiratory Medicine, The Children's Hospital at Westmead, Westmead, New South Wales 2145, Australia;
paul.robinson1@health.nsw.gov.au

Funding: The Shaping Imaging and Functional Testing (SHIFT) meeting was held as a satellite meeting to the 2019 Australasian Cystic Fibrosis conference and was

sponsored by Vertex Pharmaceuticals Ltd. The rules of engagement were that Vertex did not have any input into the content or how the meeting was run but they did support the venue, communication for the meeting, and where required transportation costs and honoraria. Details regarding remunerations received across the author group are found in the authors' declaration forms attached to the manuscript submission. P.D.R., C.E.W., S.M.S. were members of the steering committee that organised the meeting.

Contributions:

All authors made substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work, or the acquisition, analysis or interpretation of data. Drafting the work was principally performed by KJB, TAD, TR, SMS CEW and PDR. All authors revised it critically for important intellectual content. Final approval of the version published was gained from all authors. All authors Agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

Conflicts

Dr. Bayfield, Dr. Douglas, Dr. Paproki and Dr. Sly have nothing to disclose.

Dr. Rosenow reports personal fees from Vertex Pharmaceuticals, during the conduct of the study; In addition, Dr. Rosenow has a patent PCT/AU2016/000079 issued.

Dr. Davies reports other from Algipharma AS, other from Bayer AG, other from Boehringer Ingelheim Pharma GmbH & Co. KG, other from Galapagos NV, other from ImevaX GmbH, other from Nivalis Therapeutics, Inc., other from ProQR Therapeutics III B.V., other from Proteostasis Therapeutics, INC., other from Raptor Pharmaceuticals, Inc, other from Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Europe) Limited, other from Enterprise, other from Novartis, other from Pulmocide, other from Flatley, grants from CF Trust, other from Teva, outside the submitted work.

Dr. Elborn reports grants from Ionis, from European commission , personal fees and other from Vertex, during the conduct of the study.

Dr. Mall reports grants from German Federal Ministry of Education and Research , grants from Einstein Foundation Berlin, during the conduct of the study; personal fees and other from Boehringer Ingelheim, personal fees from Arrowhead Pharmaceuticals, personal fees and other from Vertex Pharmaceuticals, personal fees from Santhera,

personal fees from Galapagos, personal fees from Sterna Biologicals, personal fees from Enterprise Therapeutics, personal fees from Antabio, outside the submitted work. Dr. Ratjen reports non-financial support from Vertex, during the conduct of the study; and Felix Ratjen acts as a consultant to the Vertex Pharmaceuticals; the sponsor of this meeting.

Dr. Smyth reports grants from Vertex, personal fees from Novartis, personal fees from Teva, personal fees from Vertex, outside the submitted work; and Patent issued: "Alkyl quinolones as biomarkers of Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection and uses thereof".

Dr. Stick reports a patent licensed to Thirona, and a patent licensed to Resonance Health Ltd and Institutional reimbursement from Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Australia) Pty Ltd. for Steering Committee Member duties organising the Shaping imaging and functional testing for early detection of lung disease in Cystic Fibrosis (SHIFT) at the Australasian Cystic Fibrosis Conference 2019, Perth.

Dr. Wainwright reports institutional reimbursement from Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Australia) P/L for Steering Committee Member duties organising the Shaping imaging and functional testing for early detection of lung disease in Cystic Fibrosis (SHIFT) at the Australasian Cystic Fibrosis Conference 2019, Perth Income on a per patient basis derived from Pharmaceutical Studies - Vertex Pharmaceuticals Inc., & Boehringer-Ingelheim. Research Grant from Novo Nordisk Pharmaceuticals P/L- CF-IDEA Study. Other Reimbursement: Vertex Pharmaceuticals P/L honorarium to attend CF International Advisory Board Meeting in February 2014. Vertex Pharmaceuticals P/L honorarium to attend CF Medical Advisory Board Meeting in Adelaide in April 2014. Novartis Pharmaceuticals P/L honorarium to present symposium at National Pediatric Congress in Lebanon in May 2014. European CF Conference in Gothenburg June 2014 Vertex Pharmaceuticals P/L return travel and honorarium for lecture & discussions. North American CF Conference Georgia October 2014 DKBmed, LLC honorarium to present symposium. Vertex Pharmaceuticals P/L honorarium to present as speaker in an educational meeting series in Brisbane and Sydney in April 2015. Vertex Pharmaceuticals P/L honorarium to attend the Vertex Steering Committee Meetings re VX15-770-123 Study in 2014. Vertex Pharmaceuticals P/L honorarium for Vertex Medical Advisory Board- Innovative endpoints in CF in August 2015. The University of Miami honorarium for meeting attendance in 2015. Thorax honorarium for associate editor duties Q3/Q4 2015. BMJ honorarium for work as reviewer. Vertex Pharmaceuticals 2015 Chicago return flight and accommodation as Investigator in

Lumacaftor study Vertex Pharmaceuticals 2015-2017 honorarium as speaker at Vertex sponsored educational meeting series in Australia Vertex Pharmaceuticals 2016 Phoenix return flight and accommodation as Investigator in Next Gen study Vertex Pharmaceuticals December 2016 honoraria as speaker at Vertex sponsored educational meeting in Liverpool, UK DKBmed eCF Review Issue honoraria in January 2017 Vertex Pharmaceuticals - March 2017 honoraria as speaker at TSANZ meeting Vertex Pharmaceuticals Inc. 2014 –2018, Honorarium for acting as Consultant on the Vertex Orkambi 6-11 HTA Advisory Board, the Global Pediatric Advisory Committee, the Global Medical Advisory Board, and the VIA Grants Committee. Gilead Sciences Ltd. honorarium for meeting attendance on CF imaging. Honorarium for In Vivo Academy Limited for webcast meeting attendance at ECFC - 2018 Vertex Pharmaceuticals P/L honorarium to present as speaker in an educational meeting at ECFC in Belgrade - 2018 Vertex Pharmaceuticals Inc. honorarium to attend Next Gen Early Lifecycle Management Plan – London –2018 Vertex Pharmaceuticals P/L to act as consultant and to render such Services in the form of documents, advice, meetings and conferences during the period October 2018 - present Vertex Pharmaceuticals P/L to attend the EU Real World Evidence Steering Committee in Amsterdam - 2019 Current Board Positions - International Advisory Board Vertex Pharmaceuticals P/L Deputy Editor Thorax /Associate Editor Respiriology .

Dr. Robinson reports institutional reimbursement from Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Australia) Pty. Ltd for Steering Committee Member duties organising the Shaping imaging and functional testing for early detection of lung disease in Cystic Fibrosis (SHIFT) at the Australasian Cystic Fibrosis Conference 2019, Perth.

Abstract 367 words

Main manuscript 38~~6846~~ words

Abstract

Structural and functional defects within the lungs of children with cystic fibrosis (CF) are detectable soon after birth and progress throughout preschool years often without overt clinical signs or symptoms. By school age most children have structural changes such as bronchiectasis or gas trapping/hypoperfusion and lung function abnormalities that persist into later life. Despite improved survival, gains in FEV₁ achieved across successive birth cohorts during childhood have plateaued, and rates of FEV₁ decline in adolescence and adulthood have not slowed. This suggests that interventions aimed at preventing lung disease should be targeted to mild disease and commence in early life. Spirometry-based classifications of “normal” (FEV₁ ≥90% predicted) and “mild lung disease” (FEV₁ 70-89% predicted) are inappropriate given the failure of spirometry to detect significant structural or functional abnormalities shown by more sensitive imaging and lung function techniques. The state and readiness of two imaging (CT and MRI) and two functional tools (Multiple Breath washout and Oscillometry) for the detection and monitoring of early lung disease in children and adults with CF are discussed in this article.

Prospective research programs and technological advances in these techniques mean that well-designed interventional trials in early lung disease, particularly in young children and infants are possible. Age appropriate, randomised controlled trials (RCTs) are critical to determine the safety, efficacy and best use of new therapies in young children. Regulatory bodies continue to approve medications in young children based on safety data alone and extrapolation of efficacy results from older age groups. Harnessing the complementary information from structural and functional tools, with measures of inflammation and infection, will significantly advance our understanding of early CF lung disease pathophysiology and responses to therapy. Defining clinical utility for these novel techniques will require effective collaboration across multiple disciplines to address important remaining research questions. Future impact on existing management burden for CF patients and their family must be considered, assessed and minimised.

To address the possible role of these techniques in early lung disease, a meeting of international leaders and experts in the field was convened in August 2019, attended by representatives across the range of disciplines involved in modern CF care. This

document summarises the proceedings, key priorities and important research questions highlighted.

1. Introduction

In Cystic Fibrosis (CF), onset and progression of lung disease in early life is now well-documented¹. Structural and functional defects, which act as surrogate markers of early lung disease, are detectable soon after birth^{2,3}. These defects progress through preschool years, frequently in a “clinically silent” fashion without symptoms or abnormalities on chest X-ray and spirometry. By school age, 60-80% have bronchiectasis and/or gas trapping/hypoperfusion⁴⁻⁶ and lung function abnormalities^{7,8} that persist into later life. Despite advances in CF care, incremental improvement in lung function over successive birth cohorts has plateaued in childhood (Figure 1). The rate of decline in adolescence and adulthood remains unchanged. These observations suggest that lung disease is established by early school age, and to improve long-term survival in the newborn screening (NBS) era, interventions must focus on preventing lung disease progression and target early lung disease⁹.

Preventing lung disease in CF requires the development of effective, evidence-based interventions. This is dependent on the ability to detect and measure early, potentially reversible changes, and a thorough understanding of the pathophysiology driving disease progression. The work of several research programs (including AREST CF², London CFC¹⁰, ACFBAL⁵, SHIELD CF¹¹, TRACK-CF¹²) have characterised early lung disease and provided a framework for well-designed mechanistic and intervention studies in infants and preschool children. Therapeutic trials using novel and sensitive endpoints developed by these programs have already been conducted in older cohorts^{13,14} and preschool children and infants¹⁵⁻¹⁸. Multiple Breath Washout (MBW)^{2,6,8,19-23}, chest computed tomography (CT)^{2,6,8,24} and Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)^{12,25} can detect early functional and structural abnormalities in children and adults despite normal FEV₁ values and in the absence of other clinical features of CF disease.

Reducing current treatment burden for patients and families is a priority for the CF community²⁶. Incorporating novel, more sensitive approaches to monitoring and measuring outcomes for people with CF, while minimizing the associated burdens for patients, families and the health care teams, is a major challenge.

In recognition of these issues a meeting of experts was convened in August 2019, Perth, Western Australia, attended by representatives from paediatric and adult multidisciplinary research and clinical teams. The program was independently designed and coordinated by the senior authorship group (PDR, SMS, CEW). Vertex Pharmaceuticals sponsored the meeting.

The meeting aimed to:

- Describe current state-of-the-art approaches to early lung disease detection,
- Discuss practicality, utility and limitations of these surrogate techniques
- Discuss priorities for future collaborative research
- Describe challenges and opportunities for integration of these novel techniques into clinical practice.

Key priorities and important unresolved questions are summarised in Tables 1 and 2.

Referenced articles were chosen by authors to broadly represent the evidence base around novel techniques in the detection of CF lung disease. This did not include a standardised literature search. All included studies were deemed to be high quality based on the expertise of the author team. The literature searches (key word search criteria using the National Library of Medicine, PubMed®) focused on studies of subjects with “normal” or “mild disease”, as currently defined. Several forerunner studies for these techniques also contained subjects with greater disease severity. Effort was made to include all known institutes/groups with published data in peer-reviewed journals, using these techniques within the field of CF. Descriptions of novel techniques include feasibility and practicability, sensitivity to detect early lung disease and correlates with other measures, standardisation and regulatory approvals, and use in research studies and clinical trials to date.

2. Current status of Lung Function techniques

Spirometry remains the main functional measure used in clinics and clinical trials in people with CF to detect change and assess progress. However, it is now well recognised that spirometry is not sufficiently sensitive to detect early or mild lung disease, and shows only weak correlations with structural lung damage²⁷, inflammation²⁸, and variable associations with airway infection²⁹. Despite the universal

use of spirometry, the minimum clinically important difference (MCID) remains unknown. A revised definition based on sensitive surrogates of early lung disease is needed to expedite the use of novel techniques as end-points in future intervention studies³⁰.

The Raised Volume Rapid Thoracoabdominal Compression (RVRTC) technique can detect abnormalities in infancy and has guidelines for technical standards³¹. Unfortunately, a lack of suitable reference range data for commercial equipment, and problematic availability of commercial equipment and sedation limits its research and clinical utility^{32,33}. For this reason, RVRTC was not discussed at the meeting.

2.1 Multiple Breath Washout (MBW)

MBW is a tidal breathing-based technique with high feasibility across infancy to adulthood³⁴. MBW detects ventilation inhomogeneity (or unevenness of gas mixing), most commonly reported as lung clearance index (LCI)^{8,19,35}.

LCI becomes abnormal (increases) with disease onset prior to changes in spirometry indices^{7,8,22}, and correlates strongly with structural disease on CT^{2,27}. The prognostic utility of pre-school LCI to predict future abnormal spirometry and structural lung disease has been published by the London CFC^{36,37}. LCI appears more sensitive than spirometry as an indicator of acute lung function decline with respiratory events in pre-school³⁸ and school-aged children³⁹, and has highlighted that many do not recover to baseline values.

Consensus guidelines and technical standards have been published for pre-school (and older) children^{40,41}, and validated commercial equipment is now available^{42,43} including both FDA and CE approved options. Between-subject variability has been defined in CF across several paediatric studies^{21,44-46}.

The sensitivity of LCI to detect improvements with interventions (e.g. hypertonic saline, HTS^{47,48} and dornase alfa⁴⁹) in pre-school and school-aged children with established disease, led to its endorsement as a primary outcome measure for clinical trials⁵⁰. Successful integration into large international clinical trials in pre-school¹⁶ and school-age¹⁵ children utilised a central over-reading centre framework governing training, certification and data quality control⁵¹. Improved LCI trajectories have been demonstrated in infants and pre-schoolers with early lung disease treated with HTS^{16,17}.

Greater LCI improvements have been achieved with CFTR modulators⁵². Challenges associated with MBW include total testing time (up to 60 minutes in pre-schoolers at initial visits), additional staff training in technical aspects, and feasibility of infant testing (i.e. sedation). MCID for LCI remains unclear: increase/decrease in LCI of 15% is considered significant^{44,46}, but whether this is clinically relevant is uncertain⁵³.

2.2. Oscillometry

Oscillometry is another tidal breathing technique, which measures airway impedance of the respiratory system. It is relatively quick and feasible across all ages⁵⁴.

Technical standards were published in 2003⁵⁵ and recently updated⁵⁶. Commercial equipment is widely available, has FDA and CE approval, and a Global Lungs Initiative (GLI) task force is currently collating robust reference ranges.

The interest in oscillometry in early CF lung disease is based on its demonstrated utility in paediatric and adult asthma, correlating with disease control^{57,58}, and response to treatment⁵⁹. Differences between health and CF in pre-school subjects have been reported⁶⁰, however, oscillometry did not correlate with neutrophil elastase activity, pathogenic infection or structural lung abnormalities⁶¹. Studies are underway in CF to assess the value of more sophisticated measures that are more sensitive to changes in wheeze/asthma detection and control, including day-to-day variability⁶² and within-breath fluctuations⁶³.

3. Current status of Imaging techniques

3.1 Computed Tomography

CT is the current gold standard for demonstrating CF-related structural lung disease, characterised through indices such as bronchial wall thickening, bronchiectasis and gas trapping. CT scan abnormalities correlate with markers of lung inflammation^{3,64}, infection⁶⁵ and with LCI^{2,27}.

CT and MBW have similar sensitivities to detect early lung impairment^{2,6}. Early structural changes on CT predict later structural disease. Mucus plugging and gas trapping at age 5-6 years predicts subsequent lung function trajectory for up to 10 years, a far longer-term predictive ability than early spirometry⁶⁶. Atelectasis predicts later bronchiectasis⁶⁴. There is some evidence that radiological signs of bronchiectasis

do not invariably persist in young children with CF⁶⁵. In addition, whether structural changes such as airway dilatation reflect disease-related changes or age-dependent differences in airway wall compliance remains unclear. Future intervention studies will be important to define thresholds for reversibility/improvement in structural disease indices, and improve our understanding of what these changes represent in this setting.

~~Indices of bronchiectasis extent likely reflect permanent changes whilst those of bronchial wall thickening and gas trapping may reflect earlier, potentially reversible disease. Future intervention studies will be important to determine whether this assumption is correct and define structural thresholds for reversibility.~~

Since chest CT abnormalities in infants with CF were first detected⁶⁷, standardised protocols using ultra-low dose radiation and sensitive scoring systems for mild disease have been implemented within multicentre clinical trials. Notably, CT detected beneficial effects of CFTR modulator therapy among adults with mild and more severe lung disease^{68,69} (Figure 2), as well as children with “normal/mild” lung disease⁷⁰.

Several challenges have been successfully navigated to develop CT as a primary outcome measure in early lung disease intervention studies⁷¹. The limitations of historical CT scoring systems are well recognised⁷². Research-based scoring systems have evolved. Initial binary scores for structural disease (e.g. bronchiectasis yes/no in Brody-II)⁷³ were shown to be insensitive in the setting of early, mild disease¹⁰. More sensitive analyses have been developed (e.g. Perth-Rotterdam Annotated Grid Morphometric Analysis for CF – PRAGMA⁷⁴), which differentiate severity grades across individuals, and detect progression over time in early lung disease⁷⁵. CT protocols have been standardised across multiple sites internationally⁷⁶ and across different scanners. Central over-reading centre facilities and water phantoms providing standardised density readings have been developed¹⁸. At the time of writing, objective CF-specific CT scoring systems^{74,77} are at varying stages of automation and do not have FDA or CE approval. Spirometer-directed CT enhances image quality⁷⁸ and standardises lung volume to improve longitudinal comparison.

Challenges remain around CT use in disease detection, particularly in preschool children and infants. While free-breathing scans are available, they may underestimate airway abnormalities, and pressure-controlled scans involve anaesthesia and the associated burdens. Reliability of CT scoring (using the Brody-II Score) in infants has been questioned and until there are validated CT scoring systems for infants it is

essential that steps are taken to minimise observer-bias and optimise intra-observer agreement^{10,72}. Ongoing international multicentre studies using CT PRAGMA scores will provide further insight into CT as a primary outcome measure^{18,79}.

3.2 Magnetic Resonance Imaging

Proton MRI using clinical MRI scanners (1.5T) is attractive not only as a radiation-free technique, but also through the ability to derive both structural information and regional ventilation/perfusion homogeneity: so-called morpho-functional MRI⁸⁰. MRI is feasible across a broad age range but requires sedation in infants and pre-schoolers and is time consuming. Awake-MRI is being explored.

Despite lower resolution, detection of early lung disease is achievable and comparable across sites^{81,82}. Morpho-functional CF-MRI scoring systems have been developed⁸³. In contrast to CT, structural changes of bronchiectasis/airway wall thickening are categorised together as differentiation is challenging. Gas trapping is identifiable and mucus plugging easier to differentiate than in CT due to its high T2 signal⁸⁴. In a cohort of children and young people (range 0.2-21.1 years) who were almost exclusively non-newborn-screened¹², structural disease was prevalent and reported from the first year of life, with abnormalities increasing with age¹². Treatment of pulmonary exacerbation led to reduction in airway wall thickening, mucus plugging and consolidation (Figure 3)⁸¹. MRI correlates strongly with LCI¹².

Hyperpolarised gas MRI permits visualisation and assessment of global and regional ventilation distribution, and outcomes correlate with MBW ventilation inhomogeneity⁸⁵. Ventilation defect percentage (VDP) appears to be the most promising functional MRI index⁸⁶.

The role of MRI endpoints in intervention trials is emerging. Between-site stability, acceptable intra-subject variability⁸⁷, and ability to detect disease progression over time²⁵ has been demonstrated. Studies have shown detectable responses to antibiotic therapy^{12,81,86} and CFTR modulators⁸⁸. MRI standardisation was achieved across multiple sites⁸⁹ in the PRESIS Study¹⁷. In that study, LCI trajectory improved but MRI score (based on indices of lung structure only) did not. This suggests that some treatments may improve function without improving structural changes and emphasises the value of measuring multiple outcomes in future intervention studies.

MRI imaging does present several challenges⁹⁰. Low proton density of air results in reduced signal-to-noise ratio, whilst numerous air-tissue interfaces create greater magnetic heterogeneity and faster signal decay (or loss). Magnitude of this effect increases at higher field strength (i.e. 3T). Additionally, this low signal target moves throughout image detection (both lung and cardiac), with higher respiratory rates and heart rates encountered at younger ages. Cost of hyperpolarised gases (e.g. polarisers and access to physicists) is significant. Oxygen-enhanced proton MRI techniques have been recently developed^{91,92}.

4. Future Directions

4.1 Combining sensitive tools to gain insights into CF pathophysiology

Combining techniques aids interpretation of changes observed with specific techniques/indices and may provide further insight into the pathophysiological mechanisms behind early CF lung disease. This may enable targeted approaches to prevent disease progression.

LCI reflects gas mixing in the volume of lung in direct communication with the mouth. The potential for a bidirectional LCI response is well recognised in more severe disease^{34,93}. Imaging may provide the topographical information to explain this (e.g. illustrating areas of recruited lung with impaired gas mixing in response to an intervention). Raised MRI morphology/perfusion/global scores in the setting of normal LCI^{12,25} (Figure 4), or longitudinal worsening of gas trapping on CT despite improvements in LCI⁹⁴ all reflect combined use in early disease. Several specialised MRI techniques exist^{95,96} and the challenge for researchers is to utilise them effectively in future studies, combining/allocating resources based on varying regional expertise, cost and access issues, to advance CF understanding in early disease detection.

Understanding the evolution of, and relationships between, inflammation, infection and structural lung disease is critical to efforts to develop effective treatment strategies. Longitudinal research programs have shown that combining several of these techniques with assessments of inflammation and infection is both feasible and

informative. Strong correlations existed between early structural change, neutrophil elastase³ and neutrophil exocytosis⁹⁷; early airway inflammation at age 5 years was associated with bronchiectasis in adolescence^{64,98}. The roles of specific airway organisms in structural disease onset and progression remain unclear^{75,99}. Future studies should address optimal study design for longitudinal monitoring of infection¹⁰⁰, and insights gained from animal models of CF¹⁰¹⁻¹⁰⁵ should also be considered.

4.2 Anticipated hardware and software advances

Hardware and software advances should optimise early disease detection, enable consistent and reliable scoring, and reduce labour intensity. This may help reduce associated costs whilst generating an improved signal for use in intervention trials and future clinical practice.

Future MBW device design should reduce equipment-related dead space volume, e.g. via main stream gas analysers¹⁰⁶ and optimise performance at lower flow rates. This will aid testing in infancy where age-specific technical standards are still awaited, and testing remains challenging because of the need for sedation (beyond early infancy) and lengthy testing time. Advances in MBW quality control^{51,107} hold promise for future automation of scoring. Prototypes of commercial devices for infant oscillometry measurement¹⁰⁸ show promise. Advances in commercial software should soon allow intra-breath assessments of tidal-volume dependent variation in respiratory resistance and reactance⁶³.

Advances are occurring at a rapid pace for all of the techniques discussed within this document, and particularly in the imaging domain. Advances in CT technology will improve image quality and speed of data acquisition, and aid further radiation dose reduction (whilst maintaining required image quality for analysis). Standardisation to address impact of differences in hardware and software between centres will remain critical for future multicentre trials. CT is further ahead in this regard. Improvements in MRI scanner technology will provide better gradient fields (higher signal contrast, less artefact), whilst novel MRI research sequences include ultra-short echo times, minimise signal decay and enhance detection of smaller size anomalies (e.g. mucus

plugging¹⁰⁹). Phase-resolved functional lung MRI provides dynamic regional ventilation and perfusion mapping without IV contrast. In younger age groups it enables free-breathing data acquisition and a shorter examination time (≈ 10 mins)¹¹⁰. Paediatric CF data using these techniques are emerging^{111,112}. Increased MRI field strength (e.g. 3T scanners), driven by advances in neuroimaging, are problematic for lung imaging, which operates best at lower field strength, and must be addressed by either maintaining a market for 1.5T scanners or adapting acquisition/analysis to this ≥ 3 T setting.

Software advances will facilitate automated analysis and better correction for confounding factors (e.g. spatially corrected density approaches to adjust for anterior-posterior distribution of lung density improving gas trapping detection). Artificial intelligence has shown significant progress in imaging-recognition tasks in recent years¹¹³. MRI VDP is likely to evolve into more sophisticated indices for quantitative assessment, improving its sensitivity and utility.

4.3 Interpretation of radiation risk

Concerns about radiation limit the use of surveillance CT in research studies and CF clinical care, and risks must be interpreted in the correct context. Detection of parenchymal pathology is felt to be less important than airways in CF, enabling lower dose protocols and radiation reduction. Estimated exposure of annual surveillance scans from some centres is low: ≈ 2 mSv by age 6 which is less than the average annual background radiation exposure across USA cities (3.1 mSv/year)¹¹⁴. Recent modelling data based on biennial CT scan until age 50 found the risk to be 0.2%, lower than the 0.7% from background radiation¹¹⁵. CF survival may reach 60+ years, so future research needs to balance the apparently low risk of radiation exposure from a chest CT with clinical utility and subsequent action^{116,117}.

4.4 Opportunities with data registries

CF registries offer a unique opportunity to learn from the increasing research and clinical use of these techniques. Global CF registries now capture data on almost 100,000 individuals with CF and have provided valuable insight into CF epidemiology, pathogenesis and prognosis (e.g. US¹¹⁸, Canada¹¹⁹, UK¹²⁰ and Australia¹²¹). These

large-scale platforms could collate results of newer techniques such as LCI, CT and MRI chest imaging from clinical experience. Integration of outcome markers using these novel techniques into data registries will be aided by standardisation of timepoints for assessment and treatment protocols. This could allow investigations into effects of interventions compared with defined control groups¹²². Data sharing of existing and future research studies on open-access platforms, such as Project Data Sphere used in cancer trials, could have numerous benefits for CF if established¹²³. Making control data freely available has the potential to reduce placebo group numbers, a particular challenge for studies performed in young age groups, and those using techniques with ionising radiation.

4.5 Multicentre collaboration

Multicentre collaboration, including different age ranges and techniques, is vital to ensure future research studies are appropriately designed to address the key questions remaining for early disease detection and monitoring (Table 2). Observational studies that characterise natural disease progression²¹ and adequately powered intervention studies¹⁶ that demonstrate disease reversal, or prevention of progression, will be important. Collectively these studies will determine the optimal age and stage of disease for intervention. Comparisons of novel techniques with existing clinical monitoring tools and age-appropriate quality of life measures¹²⁴ is required.

5 Incorporating new techniques into clinical practice

5.1 Are these tests ready for clinical use?

Pre-requisites for clinical utility include widespread availability, feasibility, repeatability and sensitivity, using standardised protocols and equipment. Many of the tests discussed above satisfy several of these fundamental criteria. Questions remain, however, regarding optimal choice, frequency and timing at different clinical stages, and how to interpret results to guide clinical management.

Clinical experience with LCI is emerging^{20,125}, as well as the challenges faced when incorporating into busy clinics and younger pre-school age groups¹²⁶. The optimal age to start and frequency for MBW monitoring has not been defined, and younger age-groups such as pre-schoolers present specific challenges¹²⁶. Use of LCI at annual

review in young children or those with normal FEV₁, has begun to appear in management recommendations¹²⁷⁻¹²⁹. Before clinical use can be universally recommended, further studies are needed to define clinically meaningful change in acute and chronic CF care (particularly exacerbations), ways to reduce testing time, and guidance around the use of LCI in clinical disease surveillance.

CF clinical care already uses CT: 75% “used CT scans regularly” in a recent questionnaire survey across 25 participating CF centres in Europe and Australia¹¹⁷. Whilst recent studies have illustrated the utility of CT in clinical decision making^{116,117} and initiating management changes¹¹⁷, whether regular CT surveillance improves health outcomes is unclear. Before routine CT surveillance can be recommended, clinical guidelines are required to address optimal timing and frequency of surveillance. Biennially has been recommended by some authors¹³⁰.

MRI and oscillometry are still not sufficiently validated for integration into routine CF clinical care. MRI is resource intensive, expensive and widescale use across clinics might not be feasible despite the lack of ionising radiation. Protocols enabling free-breathing data acquisition and a shorter examination time may address concerns regarding need for sedation in younger children. Oscillometry is less expensive and more feasible within busy clinics than MBW, but what the data tells us about CF disease and progression is uncertain.

5.2 Organisational challenges

Implementing novel surveillance techniques into clinical practice will be largely governed by the size of the clinic population (influencing frequency and timing of measures). Physical and staff resources available to accommodate procedures (including training and education) are important factors. Implementation is contingent on robust partnerships with radiology, anaesthetists, respiratory scientists, health care professionals, patients and families. Prior engagement with stakeholders, including local regulatory bodies, is recommended to navigate financial, technological and logistic issues. CF infection control requirements are a primary consideration in the use of technical equipment and associated clinical areas. Time constraints placed around

testing may detrimentally affect feasibility^{126,131} as well as need for general anaesthesia or sedation.

6 Impact on patients and families

The impact these measures have on perceptions of health, burden of care²⁶ and the psychosocial implications of disease detection must be addressed. Positive attitudes from parents towards infants recruited at NBS¹³² and high adherence rates reported in recent infant¹⁷ and preschool¹⁶ intervention studies are encouraging. The generalisability of intervention trial settings to clinical practice is uncertain. Parental expectations of clinical benefit associated with enhanced surveillance techniques^{132,133} and available therapies require careful management¹³⁴. Discussion of limitations, roles and expectations of these techniques to avoid therapeutic misconceptions is important. Parental uncertainty about novel techniques, and anxiety related to perceived risks and safety^{132,134}, particularly around sedation for CT or MRI, highlight the importance of well-designed information resources and the role of CF psychosocial teams. They ensure patients and/or families are prepared and supported. Impacts on child and parent emotional well-being should be anticipated^{133,134}. Policies that prevent and manage procedural distress should be incorporated into trials and clinical practice¹³⁵⁻¹³⁷. Routine screening of mental health and assessment of coping skills in caregivers (and children) from diagnosis¹³⁸, with interventions that promote psychological adjustment and effective coping are suggested^{137,139}.

7 Conclusions

The prevention of early lung disease is a priority for researchers, clinicians, CF patients and their families³⁰. We currently possess tools and expertise that may be used to assess early lung disease progression. Future work must better define how and when to incorporate different testing modalities, the parameters to use, and the frequency of testing for clinical use and research outcomes. We must advocate for properly designed, rigorously conducted, interventional studies in mild disease, especially in young children, and advise against regulatory submissions of safety data or extrapolated efficacy data from older age groups only. Trials in young subjects with CF and early lung disease in general are poorly served by current regulatory endpoints, which should instead be based on the techniques described in this manuscript. Advances in

understanding around the evolution of early CF lung disease present an exciting opportunity to prevent structural damage and slow the ongoing decline in lung function that we have failed to prevent to date. Intensification of monitoring in this setting is justified if the correct balance is achieved between burden, gaining useful clinical information and creating opportunity to intervene and improve outcomes. In an era of wider access to highly effective CFTR modulator therapies, the ability to detect the evolution of early disease and its response to intervention will be of increasing importance.

Figure Legends

Figure 1. Changes in median FEV₁ percent predicted by age across successive birth cohorts. No further increase was achieved in comparing the last two birth cohorts and to date no improvement has been achieved in the subsequent rate of decline, suggesting that the foundations of lung disease are established at an earlier age. CF Foundation registry data. (2017 report)¹⁴⁰.

Figure 2. CT images from a CF adult, before (left) and after (right) ivacaftor treatment. There was a reduction in the degree of peribronchial wall thickening and foci of mucous plugging in the left and right lower lobes, and resolution of right middle lobe medial segmental consolidation and collapse. Reprinted with permission from the publisher of Ronan NJ et al. CORK Study in Cystic Fibrosis: Sustained Improvements in Ultra-Low-Dose Chest CT Scores After CFTR Modulation with Ivacaftor. *Chest*. 2018;153(2):395-403. Licence number 4895361424485.

Figure 3. MRI images before (left) and 1-month after (right) intravenous antibiotic treatment for pulmonary exacerbation in a 6-year-old child with CF. Improvements were observed in airway wall thickening (white arrows), mucus plugging (white arrowheads), consolidation (black arrows) and perfusion abnormalities (black arrowheads). Reprinted with permission of the American Thoracic Society. Wielputz MO et al. Magnetic resonance imaging detects changes in structure and perfusion, and response to therapy in early cystic fibrosis lung disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2014;189:956–965. The American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine is an official journal of the American Thoracic Society.

Figure 4. MRI imaging from four different CF children tested at two time points (1.3-2 years apart) using hyperpolarised gas ventilation MRI (helium-3 ventilation MRI) and MBW. Patients were clinically stable at both time points and had normal spirometry values. Localised ventilatory defects increased in size from baseline to visit 2 (white arrows). The values for Ventilatory defect percentage (VDP), and for LCI, assessed by MBW, at the time of each scan are shown alongside each image. Increases in VDP were accompanied by increases in LCI for subjects A and B, but not C and D.

Adapted with permission of the American Thoracic Society.

Copyright © 2020 American Thoracic Society. All rights reserved.

Smith L et al. 2018 Longitudinal Assessment of Children with Mild Cystic Fibrosis Using Hyperpolarized Gas Lung Magnetic Resonance Imaging and Lung Clearance Index. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*;197(3):397-400. The American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine is an official journal of the American Thoracic Society. Readers are encouraged to read the entire article for the correct context at [<https://www.atsjournals.org/doi/pdf/10.1164/rccm.201705-0894LE>]. The authors, editors, and The American Thoracic Society are not responsible for errors or omissions in adaptations.

Tables

Table 1: Summary of key priorities from the meeting

Priorities
<p>1. Amend current categorisation of early lung disease</p> <p><u>Significant functional and structural lung disease can be detected with more sensitive techniques.</u> “Normal” and “mild lung disease” categories, defined as FEV₁ ≥90 and 70-89 percent predicted, <u>respectively,</u> are inappropriate, <u>given the significant functional and structural lung disease that may be present, detectable with the more sensitive techniques described.</u> Future <u>classification and</u> approaches must address this <u>by,</u> utilising outcomes from the techniques described in this manuscript.</p>
<p>2. Optimal detection of early lung disease to aid effective intervention is a research and clinical priority</p> <p>Targeting “effective (treatments) in delaying or preventing the progression of lung disease in early life” is a leading (ranked 4th of 10) research priority for people with CF and healthcare providers globally²⁶. Despite advances in CF management, there has been <u>No change in the</u> <u>Our failure to change</u> long-term rate of FEV₁ decline suggest<u>ing foundations of</u> lung disease <u>is</u>are established by early school age. Future research studies should address this concern to best inform future clinical practice.</p>
<p>3. Use the tools described in well-designed intervention studies targeting early CF lung disease</p> <p>The <u>These</u> techniques described within this document are available and offer <u>exciting</u> potential to detect and better understand <u>the the complex complex</u> relationships driving early lung disease <u>evolution.</u> Results pertain to <u>They provide the information for the essential</u> <u>They enable</u> clinical trials that we must perform to describe, intervene and prevent progressive lung disease. We <u>must are now in a position to</u> advocate for, and conduct, well-designed intervention trials in early lung disease across all age ranges, especially young children and infants.</p>
<p>4. Be <u>aware, aware of,</u> assess, and actively try to minimise the impact on overall burden of care/treatment</p> <p><u>Reducing CF management burden</u> was thea <u>top research priority</u>²⁶. We have a responsibility to <u>U</u>nderstand the experiences of <u>patients/young children and</u> caregivers as we push for optimised early disease detection and subsequent intervention and <u>ensure</u> acceptability among the clinic population. Reducing CF management burden was the top research priority identified by the global</p>

~~CF patient and healthcare community²⁶. Optimal timing/and frequency of early surveillance monitoring is not un~~clear and a balance ~~must be achieved~~ between gaining ~~necessary~~ information ~~to inform clinical decisions~~ whilst minimising impact on ~~patients~~~~the child~~ and families ~~is necessary~~. ~~Opportunities across CF management to offset this increased testing burden must be considered.~~

5. Design ~~research~~ studies with ~~combinations of~~ these tests to maximise the pathophysiological insight gained

Effective early disease detection ~~and intervention~~ will not be possible with one single test—~~there is no single silver bullet~~. Future work must harness technological advances, ensure collaboration across ~~different~~~~tee~~ sites/~~and~~ disciplines, and prioritise studies combining these techniques to answer key ~~research~~ questions. The complementary nature of ~~the~~ tools ~~discussed~~ should be ~~used~~~~harnessed~~ to better understand the underlying ~~CF~~ pathophysiology ~~of CF and the different patterns of pathophysiology encountered~~. ~~Each technique has intrinsic limits and we have to think very hard as to how we combine them and get the most out of them.~~

6. Accurate understanding of the risk of radiation with surveillance CT is critical ~~when assessing its role in early lung disease detection~~

~~Radiation~~ concerns ~~about radiation~~ are limiting ~~use of surveillance~~ CT ~~use~~ in research studies and ~~CF~~~~CF~~ clinical care. Radiation risks ~~needs~~ to be accurately portrayed to ensure rational decisions and recommendations can be made and ~~that~~ radiation fears do not hamper integration into surveillance programs. The clinical and research benefits of CT should not be ignored ~~in discussions regarding radiation risk~~, nor should ~~discussion regarding~~ the risk cloud interpretation ~~or scrutiny~~ of research data.

7. Integration of data ~~using these techniques~~ into CF Registries and data sharing open-access platforms ~~offer exciting opportunities to aid integration into clinical care~~

~~Standardisation of timepoints for assessment and treatment protocols will increase the insight gained~~ from real-world experience and large-scale monitoring using these techniques through integration into global CF registries ~~can be optimised by standardisation of timepoints for assessment and treatment protocols~~. Data sharing of existing and future ~~research~~ studies on open-access platforms (including raw/~~control~~ data) ~~mean potential could have numerous benefits for this field, including making control data freely available and potentially~~ ~~reducing in~~the numbers of ~~placebo~~ subjects, ~~that have to be exposed to placebo medications in the future.~~

8. Simplify the terminology associated with these techniques

There is a need to simplify the language used to describe outcomes with these techniques to make terminology more straightforward for health care professionals to understand.

9. Defining minimal clinically important difference ~~for these techniques is a research priority~~

Understanding what constitutes the smallest meaningful change (outside of natural variability) for each technique (i.e. the minimal clinically important difference, MCID) remains poorly understood. Research studies must incorporate clinically relevant outcomes to aid this.

10. Optimise future progress through multidisciplinary collaboration

Regular meetings to establish and maintain collaborative networks targeting advances in early disease detection in CF are essential to achieve effective integration into clinical care.

Table 2: Focused Questions or Challenges for the future of these techniques; research and clinical (Priorities for future collaborative research)

Top 5 Research Questions or Challenges	
1	What is the pathophysiology of early lung disease?
2	What features are the best predictors of lung disease progression or the best outcomes for assessing response to treatment?
3	What is the optimal combination of techniques and outcomes to use in the setting of different research questions?
4	What is the minimal clinically important difference for the techniques and outcomes discussed?
5	Standardisation of techniques including minimising the impact of differing hardware and software across sites for multicentre studies.
Top 5 Clinical Questions or Challenges	
1	How to use these measures across different clinical scenarios i.e. long-term disease tracking vs. short-term changes and response to interventions.
2	What do the results mean clinically for individual patients? E.g. implications of gas trapping, or change in LCI etc. What do the results mean in terms of predicting disease progression, and as markers of acute deterioration or response to intervention?
3	What is the impact of these novel techniques on families and patients in both research and clinical settings? How can we best minimise impact and support patient and families?
4	How to overcome organisational challenges to deliver effective early disease surveillance.
5	How to make these techniques and their outcomes more user-friendly (simplify terminology, less expensive, less time consuming, less sedation etc).

References

1. Ranganathan SC, Hall GL, Sly PD, et al. Early Lung Disease in Infants and Preschool Children with Cystic Fibrosis. What Have We Learned and What Should We Do about It? *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2017;195(12):1567-75. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201606-1107CI
2. Ramsey KA, Rosenow T, Turkovic L, et al. Lung Clearance Index and Structural Lung Disease on Computed Tomography in Early Cystic Fibrosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2016;193(1):60-7. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201507-1409OC
3. Sly PD, Gangell CL, Chen L, et al. Risk factors for bronchiectasis in children with cystic fibrosis. *N Engl J Med* 2013;368(21):1963-70. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1301725
4. Stick SM, Brennan S, Murray C, et al. Bronchiectasis in infants and preschool children diagnosed with cystic fibrosis after newborn screening. *J Pediatr* 2009;155(5):623-8 e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2009.05.005
5. Wainwright CE, Vidmar S, Armstrong DS, et al. Effect of bronchoalveolar lavage-directed therapy on *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection and structural lung injury in children with cystic fibrosis: a randomized trial. *Jama* 2011;306(2):163-71. doi: 10.1001/jama.2011.954
6. Owens CM, Aurora P, Stanojevic S, et al. Lung Clearance Index and HRCT are complementary markers of lung abnormalities in young children with CF. *Thorax* 2011;66(6):481-8. doi: 10.1136/thx.2010.150375
7. Aurora P, Gustafsson P, Bush A, et al. Multiple breath inert gas washout as a measure of ventilation distribution in children with cystic fibrosis. *Thorax* 2004;59(12):1068-73. doi: 59/12/1068 [pii] 10.1136/thx.2004.022590
8. Gustafsson PM, Aurora P, Lindblad A. Evaluation of ventilation maldistribution as an early indicator of lung disease in children with cystic fibrosis. *Eur Respir J* 2003;22(6):972-9.
9. Bell SC, Mall MA, Gutierrez H, et al. The future of cystic fibrosis care: a global perspective. *The lancet Respiratory medicine* 2020;8(1):65-124. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(19)30337-6
10. Thia LP, Calder A, Stocks J, et al. Is chest CT useful in newborn screened infants with cystic fibrosis at 1 year of age? *Thorax* 2014;69(4):320-7. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2013-204176
11. Hulme KM, Linnane B, McNally P. Lower Airway Infection in Preschool Children with Cystic Fibrosis: An International Comparison. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2020;201(6):748-50. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201910-2064LE
12. Stahl M, Wielputz MO, Graeber SY, et al. Comparison of Lung Clearance Index and Magnetic Resonance Imaging for Assessment of Lung Disease in Children with Cystic Fibrosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2017;195(3):349-59. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201604-0893OC
13. Alton E, Armstrong DK, Ashby D, et al. A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of repeated nebulisation of non-viral cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) gene therapy in patients with cystic fibrosis. *NIHR Journals Library* 2016

14. Davies J, Sheridan H, Bell N, et al. Assessment of clinical response to ivacaftor with lung clearance index in cystic fibrosis patients with a G551D-CFTR mutation and preserved spirometry: a randomised controlled trial. *The lancet Respiratory medicine* 2013;1(8):630-8. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(13)70182-6
15. Ratjen F, Hug C, Marigowda G, et al. Efficacy and safety of lumacaftor and ivacaftor in patients aged 6-11 years with cystic fibrosis homozygous for F508del-CFTR: a randomised, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. *The lancet Respiratory medicine* 2017;5(7):557-67. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(17)30215-1
16. Ratjen F, Davis SD, Stanojevic S, et al. Inhaled hypertonic saline in preschool children with cystic fibrosis (SHIP): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *The lancet Respiratory medicine* 2019;7(9):802-09. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(19)30187-0
17. Stahl M, Wielputz MO, Ricklefs I, et al. Preventive Inhalation of Hypertonic Saline in Infants with Cystic Fibrosis (PRESES). A Randomized, Double-Blind, Controlled Study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2019;199(10):1238-48. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201807-1203OC
18. Prevention of Bronchiectasis in Infants With Cystic Fibrosis (COMBATCF): National Library of Medicine (NLM) at the National Institutes of Health (NIH); [Available from: <https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01270074> accessed 2020/04/24 2020.
19. Aurora P, Bush A, Gustafsson P, et al. Multiple-breath washout as a marker of lung disease in preschool children with cystic fibrosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2005;171(3):249-56. doi: 200407-895OC [pii] 10.1164/rccm.200407-895OC
20. Hardaker KM, Panda H, Hulme K, et al. Abnormal preschool Lung Clearance Index (LCI) reflects clinical status and predicts lower spirometry later in childhood in cystic fibrosis. *J Cyst Fibros* 2019;18(5):721-27. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2019.02.007
21. Stanojevic S, Davis SD, Retsch-Bogart G, et al. Progression of Lung Disease in Preschool Patients with Cystic Fibrosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2017;195(9):1216-25. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201610-2158OC
22. Horsley AR, Gustafsson PM, Macleod KA, et al. Lung clearance index is a sensitive, repeatable and practical measure of airways disease in adults with cystic fibrosis. *Thorax* 2008;63(2):135-40. doi: thx.2007.082628 [pii] 10.1136/thx.2007.082628
23. Verbanck S, Paiva M, Paeps E, et al. Lung clearance index in adult cystic fibrosis patients: the role of convection-dependent lung units. *Eur Respir J* 2013;42(2):380-8. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00125312
24. McMahon CJ, Dodd JD, Hill C, et al. Hyperpolarized 3helium magnetic resonance ventilation imaging of the lung in cystic fibrosis: comparison with high resolution CT and spirometry. *Eur Radiol* 2006;16(11):2483-90. doi: 10.1007/s00330-006-0311-5
25. Smith L, Marshall H, Aldag I, et al. Longitudinal Assessment of Children with Mild Cystic Fibrosis Using Hyperpolarized Gas Lung Magnetic Resonance Imaging and Lung Clearance Index. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2018;197(3):397-400. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201705-0894LE

26. Rowbotham NJ, Smith S, Leighton PA, et al. The top 10 research priorities in cystic fibrosis developed by a partnership between people with CF and healthcare providers. *Thorax* 2018;73(4):388-90. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2017-210473
27. Gustafsson PM, De Jong PA, Tiddens HA, et al. Multiple-breath inert gas washout and spirometry versus structural lung disease in cystic fibrosis. *Thorax* 2008;63(2):129-34. doi: thx.2007.077784 [pii] 10.1136/thx.2007.077784
28. Mayer-Hamblett N, Aitken ML, Accurso FJ, et al. Association between pulmonary function and sputum biomarkers in cystic fibrosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2007;175(8):822-8. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200609-1354OC
29. Hector A, Kirn T, Ralhan A, et al. Microbial colonization and lung function in adolescents with cystic fibrosis. *J Cyst Fibros* 2016;15(3):340-9. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2016.01.004
30. Flume PA, VanDevanter DR. Leveraging early markers of cystic fibrosis structural lung disease to improve outcomes. *Eur Respir J* 2020;55(4) doi: 10.1183/13993003.00105-2020
31. ATS/ERS statement: raised volume forced expirations in infants: guidelines for current practice. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 2005;172(11):1463-71. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200408-1141ST
32. Lum S, Hoo AF, Hulskamp G, et al. Potential misinterpretation of infant lung function unless prospective healthy controls are studied. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 2010;45(9):906-13. doi: 10.1002/ppul.21255
33. Ren CL, Robinson P, Ranganathan S. Chloral hydrate sedation for infant pulmonary function testing. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 2014;49(12):1251-2. doi: 10.1002/ppul.23012
34. Robinson PD, Goldman MD, Gustafsson PM. Inert gas washout: theoretical background and clinical utility in respiratory disease. *Respiration* 2009;78(3):339-55. doi: 000225373 [pii] 10.1159/000225373
35. Ellemunter H, Fuchs SI, Unsinn KM, et al. Sensitivity of lung clearance index and chest computed tomography in early cf lung disease. *Respiratory Medicine* 2010;104(12):1834-42. doi: <http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rmed.2010.06.010>
36. Aurora P, Stanojevic S, Wade A, et al. Lung clearance index at 4 years predicts subsequent lung function in children with cystic fibrosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2011;183(6):752-8. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200911-1646OC
37. Davies G, Stanojevic S, Raywood E, et al. An observational study of the lung clearance index throughout childhood in cystic fibrosis: early years matter. *Eur Respir J* 2020;56(4) doi: 10.1183/13993003.00006-2020
38. Rayment JH, Stanojevic S, Davis SD, et al. Lung clearance index to monitor treatment response in pulmonary exacerbations in preschool children with cystic fibrosis. *Thorax* 2018;73(5):451-58. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2017-210979
39. Perrem L, Stanojevic S, Shaw M, et al. Lung Clearance Index to Track Acute Respiratory Events in School-age Children with Cystic Fibrosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2020 doi: 10.1164/rccm.202006-2433OC
40. Robinson PD, Latzin P, Ramsey KA, et al. Preschool Multiple-Breath Washout Testing. An Official American Thoracic Society Technical Statement. *Am J*

- Respir Crit Care Med* 2018;197(5):e1-e19. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201801-0074ST
41. Robinson PD, Latzin P, Verbanck S, et al. Consensus statement for inert gas washout measurement using multiple- and single- breath tests. *European Respiratory Journal* 2013;41(3):507-22. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00069712
 42. Singer F, Houltz B, Latzin P, et al. A realistic validation study of a new nitrogen multiple-breath washout system. *PLoS One* 2012;7(4):e36083. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0036083
 43. Zwitserloot AM, van den Born EJ, Raaijmakers LHA, et al. Differences in lung clearance index and functional residual capacity between two commercial multiple-breath nitrogen washout devices in healthy children and adults. *ERJ Open Res* 2020;6(2) doi: 10.1183/23120541.00247-2019
 44. Svedberg M, Gustafsson PM, Robinson PD, et al. Variability of lung clearance index in clinically stable cystic fibrosis lung disease in school age children. *J Cyst Fibros* 2018;17(2):236-41. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2017.08.004
 45. Green K, Kongstad T, Skov M, et al. Variability of monthly nitrogen multiple-breath washout during one year in children with cystic fibrosis. *J Cyst Fibros* 2018;17(2):242-48. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2017.11.007
 46. Oude Engberink E, Ratjen F, Davis SD, et al. Inter-test reproducibility of the lung clearance index measured by multiple breath washout. *Eur Respir J* 2017;50(4) doi: 10.1183/13993003.00433-2017
 47. Amin R, Subbarao P, Jabar A, et al. Hypertonic saline improves the LCI in paediatric CF patients with normal lung function. *Thorax* 2010;65(5):379-83. doi: 10.1136/thx.2009.125831
 48. Subbarao P, Stanojevic S, Brown M, et al. Lung Clearance Index as an Outcome Measure for Clinical Trials in Young Children with Cystic Fibrosis: A Pilot Study using Inhaled Hypertonic Saline. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2013;188(4):456-60.
 49. Amin R, Subbarao P, Lou W, et al. The effect of dornase alfa on ventilation inhomogeneity in patients with cystic fibrosis. *Eur Respir J* 2011;37(4):806-12. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00072510
 50. Kent L, Reix P, Innes JA, et al. Lung clearance index: evidence for use in clinical trials in cystic fibrosis. *J Cyst Fibros* 2014;13(2):123-38. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2013.09.005
 51. Saunders C, Jensen R, Robinson PD, et al. Integrating the multiple breath washout test into international multicentre trials. *J Cyst Fibros* 2020;19(4):602-07. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2019.11.006
 52. Ratjen F, Klingel M, Black P, et al. Changes in Lung Clearance Index in Preschool-aged Patients with Cystic Fibrosis Treated with Ivacaftor (GOAL): A Clinical Trial. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2018;198(4):526-28. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201802-0243LE
 53. Short C, Saunders C, Davies JC. Utility of lung clearance index in CF: What we know, what we don't know and musings on how to bridge the gap. *J Cyst Fibros* 2020;19(6):852-55. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2020.10.007
 54. Frey U. Forced oscillation technique in infants and young children. *Paediatr Respir Rev* 2005;6(4):246-54. doi: S1526-0542(05)00091-6 [pii] 10.1016/j.prrv.2005.09.010

55. Oostveen E, MacLeod D, Lorino H, et al. The forced oscillation technique in clinical practice: methodology, recommendations and future developments. *Eur Respir J* 2003;22(6):1026-41.
56. King GG, Bates J, Berger KI, et al. Technical standards for respiratory oscillometry. *Eur Respir J* 2020;55(2) doi: 10.1183/13993003.00753-2019
57. Rabinovitch N, Mauger DT, Reisdorph N, et al. Predictors of asthma control and lung function responsiveness to step 3 therapy in children with uncontrolled asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2014;133(2):350-6. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2013.07.039
58. Cottee AM, Seccombe LM, Thamrin C, et al. Bronchodilator Response Assessed by the Forced Oscillation Technique Identifies Poor Asthma Control With Greater Sensitivity Than Spirometry. *Chest* 2020;157(6):1435-41. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2019.12.035
59. Tang FSM, Rutting S, Farrow CE, et al. Ventilation heterogeneity and oscillometry predict asthma control improvement following step-up inhaled therapy in uncontrolled asthma. *Respirology* 2020 doi: 10.1111/resp.13772
60. Evans DJ, Schultz A, Verheggen M, et al. Identifying pediatric lung disease: A comparison of forced oscillation technique outcomes. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 2019;54(6):751-58. doi: 10.1002/ppul.24286
61. Ramsey KA, Ranganathan SC, Gangell CL, et al. Impact of lung disease on respiratory impedance in young children with cystic fibrosis. *Eur Respir J* 2015;46(6):1672-9. doi: 10.1183/13993003.00156-2015
62. Wong A, Hardaker K, Field P, et al. Home-based Forced Oscillation Technique Day-to-Day Variability in Pediatric Asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2019;199(9):1156-60. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201809-1659LE
63. Czovek D, Shackleton C, Hantos Z, et al. Tidal changes in respiratory resistance are sensitive indicators of airway obstruction in children. *Thorax* 2016;71(10):907-15. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2015-208182
64. Wijker NE, Vidmar S, Grimwood K, et al. Early markers of cystic fibrosis structural lung disease: follow-up of the ACFBAL cohort. *Eur Respir J* 2020;55(4) doi: 10.1183/13993003.01694-2019
65. Mott LS, Park J, Murray CP, et al. Progression of early structural lung disease in young children with cystic fibrosis assessed using CT. *Thorax* 2012;67(6):509-16. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2011-200912
66. Turkovic L, Caudri D, Rosenow T, et al. Structural determinants of long-term functional outcomes in young children with cystic fibrosis. *Eur Respir J* 2020;55(5) doi: 10.1183/13993003.00748-2019
67. Helbich TH, Heinz-Peer G, Eichler I, et al. Cystic fibrosis: CT assessment of lung involvement in children and adults. *Radiology* 1999;213(2):537-44. doi: 10.1148/radiology.213.2.r99nv04537
68. Ronan NJ, Einarsson GG, Twomey M, et al. CORK Study in Cystic Fibrosis: Sustained Improvements in Ultra-Low-Dose Chest CT Scores After CFTR Modulation With Ivacaftor. *Chest* 2018;153(2):395-403. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2017.10.005
69. Sheikh SI, Long FR, McCoy KS, et al. Computed tomography correlates with improvement with ivacaftor in cystic fibrosis patients with G551D mutation. *J Cyst Fibros* 2015;14(1):84-9. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2014.06.011

70. Wainwright C, Brody, A., Nagle, S., Hug, C., Marigowda, G., Waltz, D., Goldin, J., Ratjen, F., & Wang, L. Effect of lumacaftor/ivacaftor on ct scores: exploratory imaging substudy. *Respirology (Carlton, Vic)* 2018;Conference: Australia and New Zealand Society of Respiratory Science and the Thoracic Society of Australia and New Zealand Annual Scientific Meeting , ANZSRS/TSANZ 2018. Australia. 23(Supplement 1):57. doi: 10.1111/resp.13267
71. van Straten M, Brody AS, Ernst C, et al. Guidance for computed tomography (CT) imaging of the lungs for patients with cystic fibrosis (CF) in research studies. *J Cyst Fibros* 2020;19(2):176-83. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2019.09.001
72. Calder AD, Bush A, Brody AS, et al. Scoring of chest CT in children with cystic fibrosis: state of the art. *Pediatr Radiol* 2014;44(12):1496-506. doi: 10.1007/s00247-013-2867-y
73. Brody AS, Kosorok MR, Li Z, et al. Reproducibility of a scoring system for computed tomography scanning in cystic fibrosis. *J Thorac Imaging* 2006;21(1):14-21. doi: 10.1097/01.rti.0000203937.82276.ce
74. Rosenow T, Oudraad MC, Murray CP, et al. PRAGMA-CF. A Quantitative Structural Lung Disease Computed Tomography Outcome in Young Children with Cystic Fibrosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2015;191(10):1158-65. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201501-0061OC
75. Breuer O, Schultz A, Garratt LW, et al. Aspergillus Infections and Progression of Structural Lung Disease in Children with Cystic Fibrosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2020;201(6):688-96. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201908-1585OC
76. Kuo W, Kemner-van de Corput MP, Perez-Rovira A, et al. Multicentre chest computed tomography standardisation in children and adolescents with cystic fibrosis: the way forward. *Eur Respir J* 2016;47(6):1706-17. doi: 10.1183/13993003.01601-2015
77. Konietzke P, Weinheimer O, Wielputz MO, et al. Validation of automated lobe segmentation on paired inspiratory-expiratory chest CT in 8-14 year-old children with cystic fibrosis. *PLoS One* 2018;13(4):e0194557. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0194557
78. Salamon E, Lever S, Kuo W, et al. Spirometer guided chest imaging in children: It is worth the effort! *Pediatr Pulmonol* 2017;52(1):48-56. doi: 10.1002/ppul.23490
79. ClinicalTrials.gov [Internet]. Identifier NCT02950883, Saline Hypertonic in Preschoolers + CT (SHIP-CT) Bethesda, MD: National Library of Medicine; 2020 [Available from: <https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02950883> accessed 2020/04/28 2020.
80. Smith LJ, Collier GJ, Marshall H, et al. Patterns of regional lung physiology in cystic fibrosis using ventilation magnetic resonance imaging and multiple-breath washout. *Eur Respir J* 2018;52(5) doi: 10.1183/13993003.00821-2018
81. Wielputz MO, Puderbach M, Kopp-Schneider A, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging detects changes in structure and perfusion, and response to therapy in early cystic fibrosis lung disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2014;189(8):956-65. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201309-1659OC
82. Couch MJ, Morgado F, Kanhere N, et al. Assessing the feasibility of hyperpolarized (¹²⁹Xe) multiple-breath washout MRI in pediatric cystic fibrosis. *Magn Reson Med* 2020;84(1):304-11. doi: 10.1002/mrm.28099

83. Eichinger M, Optazaite DE, Kopp-Schneider A, et al. Morphologic and functional scoring of cystic fibrosis lung disease using MRI. *Eur J Radiol* 2012;81(6):1321-9. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2011.02.045
84. Eichinger M, Heussel CP, Kauczor HU, et al. Computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging in cystic fibrosis lung disease. *J Magn Reson Imaging* 2010;32(6):1370-8. doi: 10.1002/jmri.22374
85. Kanhere N, Couch MJ, Kowalik K, et al. Correlation of Lung Clearance Index with Hyperpolarized (¹²⁹Xe) Magnetic Resonance Imaging in Pediatric Subjects with Cystic Fibrosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2017;196(8):1073-75. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201611-2228LE
86. Rayment JH, Couch MJ, McDonald N, et al. Hyperpolarised (¹²⁹Xe) magnetic resonance imaging to monitor treatment response in children with cystic fibrosis. *Eur Respir J* 2019;53(5) doi: 10.1183/13993003.02188-2018
87. Couch MJ, Thomen R, Kanhere N, et al. A two-center analysis of hyperpolarized (¹²⁹Xe) lung MRI in stable pediatric cystic fibrosis: Potential as a biomarker for multi-site trials. *Journal of cystic fibrosis : official journal of the European Cystic Fibrosis Society* 2019 doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2019.03.005
88. Altes TA, Johnson M, Fidler M, et al. Use of hyperpolarized helium-3 MRI to assess response to ivacaftor treatment in patients with cystic fibrosis. *J Cyst Fibros* 2017;16(2):267-74. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2016.12.004
89. Wielpütz MO, von Stackelberg O, Stahl M, et al. Multicentre standardisation of chest MRI as radiation-free outcome measure of lung disease in young children with cystic fibrosis. *J Cyst Fibros* 2018;17(4):518-27. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2018.05.003
90. Ciet P, Tiddens HA, Wielopolski PA, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging in children: common problems and possible solutions for lung and airways imaging. *Pediatr Radiol* 2015;45(13):1901-15. doi: 10.1007/s00247-015-3420-y
91. Sa RC, Henderson AC, Simonson T, et al. Measurement of the distribution of ventilation-perfusion ratios in the human lung with proton MRI: comparison with the multiple inert-gas elimination technique. *Journal of applied physiology* 2017;123(1):136-46. doi: 10.1152/jappphysiol.00804.2016
92. Arai TJ, Horn FC, Sa RC, et al. Comparison of quantitative multiple-breath specific ventilation imaging using colocalized 2D oxygen-enhanced MRI and hyperpolarized (³He) MRI. *Journal of applied physiology* 2018;125(5):1526-35. doi: 10.1152/jappphysiol.00500.2017
93. Horsley A, Siddiqui S. Putting lung function and physiology into perspective: cystic fibrosis in adults. *Respirology* 2015;20(1):33-45. doi: 10.1111/resp.12382
94. Rosenow T, Ramsey K, Turkovic L, et al. Air trapping in early cystic fibrosis lung disease-Does CT tell the full story? *Pediatr Pulmonol* 2017;52(9):1150-56. doi: 10.1002/ppul.23754
95. Wielpütz MO, Mall MA. Imaging modalities in cystic fibrosis: emerging role of MRI. *Curr Opin Pulm Med* 2015;21(6):609-16. doi: 10.1097/mcp.0000000000000213

96. Mall MA, Stahl M, Graeber SY, et al. Early detection and sensitive monitoring of CF lung disease: Prospects of improved and safer imaging. *Pediatric pulmonology* 2016;51(S44):S49-s60. doi: 10.1002/ppul.23537
97. Margaroli C, Garratt LW, Horati H, et al. Elastase Exocytosis by Airway Neutrophils Is Associated with Early Lung Damage in Children with Cystic Fibrosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2019;199(7):873-81. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201803-0442OC
98. Rosenow T, Mok LC, Turkovic L, et al. The cumulative effect of inflammation and infection on structural lung disease in early cystic fibrosis. *Eur Respir J* 2019;54(1) doi: 10.1183/13993003.01771-2018
99. Harun SN, Holford NHG, Grimwood K, et al. Pseudomonas aeruginosa eradication therapy and risk of acquiring Aspergillus in young children with cystic fibrosis. *Thorax* 2019;74(8):740-48. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2018-211548
100. Turnbull A, Hughes D, Davies J. Selective Sampling of the Lower Airway in Children with Cystic Fibrosis: What Are We Missing? *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2020;201(6):747-48. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201911-2134LE
101. Rosen BH, Evans TIA, Moll SR, et al. Infection Is Not Required for Mucoinflammatory Lung Disease in CFTR-Knockout Ferrets. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2018;197(10):1308-18. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201708-1616OC
102. Matsui H, Grubb BR, Tarran R, et al. Evidence for periciliary liquid layer depletion, not abnormal ion composition, in the pathogenesis of cystic fibrosis airways disease. *Cell* 1998;95(7):1005-15. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81724-9
103. Mall MA, Mayer-Hamblett N, Rowe SM. Cystic Fibrosis: Emergence of Highly Effective Targeted Therapeutics and Potential Clinical Implications. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2020;201(10):1193-208. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201910-1943SO
104. Hoegger MJ, Fischer AJ, McMenimen JD, et al. Impaired mucus detachment disrupts mucociliary transport in a piglet model of cystic fibrosis. *Science* 2014;345(6198):818-22. doi: 10.1126/science.1255825
105. Fritzsching B, Zhou-Suckow Z, Trojanek JB, et al. Hypoxic epithelial necrosis triggers neutrophilic inflammation via IL-1 receptor signaling in cystic fibrosis lung disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2015;191(8):902-13. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201409-1610OC
106. Ciaffoni L, O'Neill DP, Couper JH, et al. In-airway molecular flow sensing: A new technology for continuous, noninvasive monitoring of oxygen consumption in critical care. *Sci Adv* 2016;2(8):e1600560. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.1600560
107. Jensen R, Stanojevic S, Klingel M, et al. A Systematic Approach to Multiple Breath Nitrogen Washout Test Quality. *PLoS One* 2016;11(6):e0157523. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0157523
108. Klinger AP, Travers CP, Martin A, et al. Non-invasive forced oscillometry to quantify respiratory mechanics in term neonates. *Pediatr Res* 2020;88(2):293-99. doi: 10.1038/s41390-020-0751-7
109. Delacoste J, Feliciano H, Yerly J, et al. A black-blood ultra-short echo time (UTE) sequence for 3D isotropic resolution imaging of the lungs. *Magn Reson Med* 2019;81(6):3808-18. doi: 10.1002/mrm.27679

110. Bauman G, Puderbach M, Deimling M, et al. Non-contrast-enhanced perfusion and ventilation assessment of the human lung by means of fourier decomposition in proton MRI. *Magn Reson Med* 2009;62(3):656-64. doi: 10.1002/mrm.22031
111. Nyilas S, Bauman G, Sommer G, et al. Novel magnetic resonance technique for functional imaging of cystic fibrosis lung disease. *European Respiratory Journal* 2017;50(6) doi: 10.1183/13993003.01464-2017
112. Couch MJ, Munidasa S, Rayment JH, et al. Comparison of Functional Free-Breathing Pulmonary (1)H and Hyperpolarized (129)Xe Magnetic Resonance Imaging in Pediatric Cystic Fibrosis. *Acad Radiol* 2020 doi: 10.1016/j.acra.2020.05.008
113. Hosny A, Parmar C, Quackenbush J, et al. Artificial intelligence in radiology. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2018;18(8):500-10. doi: 10.1038/s41568-018-0016-5
114. U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission. Washington, DC: U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission; 2020 [Available from: <https://www.nrc.gov/about-nrc/radiation/around-us/doses-daily-lives.html> accessed 20th June 2020.
115. Kuo W, Ciet P, Tiddens HA, et al. Monitoring cystic fibrosis lung disease by computed tomography. Radiation risk in perspective. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2014;189(11):1328-36. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201311-2099CI
116. Newbegin K, Pilkington K, Shanthikumar S, et al. Clinical utility of surveillance computed tomography scans in infants with cystic fibrosis. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 2018;53(10):1387-90. doi: 10.1002/ppul.24132
117. Bortoluzzi CF, Pontello E, Pintani E, et al. The impact of chest computed tomography and chest radiography on clinical management of cystic fibrosis lung disease. *J Cyst Fibros* 2019 doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2019.08.005
118. Cystic Fibrosis Foundation. Bethesda, Maryland, U.S.A. [Available from: <https://www.cff.org/Research/Researcher-Resources/Patient-Registry/> accessed 20th June 2020.
119. Cystic Fibrosis Canada. Toronto, Ontario [Available from: <https://www.cysticfibrosis.ca/our-programs/cf-registry> accessed 20th June 2020.
120. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. London, U.K. [Available from: <https://www.cysticfibrosis.org.uk/the-work-we-do/uk-cf-registry> accessed 20th June 2020.
121. Cystic Fibrosis Australia. [Available from: <https://www.cysticfibrosis.org.au/dataregistry> accessed 20th June 2020.
122. Buzzetti R, Salvatore D. Combining Clinical Trial and Patient Registry Data in Cystic Fibrosis: Who Should Be Compared? *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2017;195(3):404-05. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201607-1373LE
123. Bertagnolli MM, Sartor O, Chabner BA, et al. Advantages of a Truly Open-Access Data-Sharing Model. *N Engl J Med* 2017;376(12):1178-81. doi: 10.1056/NEJMs1702054
124. Cheney J, Vidmar S, Gailer N, et al. Health-related quality-of-life in children with cystic fibrosis aged 5-years and associations with health outcomes. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2020;19(3):483-91. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2020.02.022

125. Lombardi E, Gambazza S, Pradal U, et al. Lung clearance index in subjects with cystic fibrosis in Italy. *Ital J Pediatr* 2019;45(1):56. doi: 10.1186/s13052-019-0647-5
126. Robinson PD. Feasibility of squeezing multiple breath washout testing into busy clinical laboratories. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 2016;51(12):1271-73. doi: 10.1002/ppul.23560
127. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Cystic Fibrosis: Diagnosis and management: National Guideline Alliance, hosted by the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists, 2017.
128. Royal Brompton Hospital. Clinical Guidelines: Care of Children with Cystic Fibrosis. In: Balfour-Lynn I, ed. 7th ed. London, UK: Royal Brompton Hospital, 2017.
129. Barben J, Castellani C, Munck A, et al. Updated guidance on the management of children with cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator-related metabolic syndrome/cystic fibrosis screen positive, inconclusive diagnosis (CRMS/CFSPID). *J Cyst Fibros* 2020 doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2020.11.006
130. Tiddens HA, van Straten M, Odink A, et al. Chest computed tomography and clinical trials in cystic fibrosis. In: Geddes Ha, ed. Cystic Fibrosis. 4th ed. London: CRC Press 2015:497-507.
131. Yamine S, Summermatter S, Singer F, et al. Feasibility of nitrogen multiple-breath washout in inexperienced children younger than 7 years. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 2016;51(11):1183-90. doi: 10.1002/ppul.23431
132. Chudleigh J, Hoo AF, Ahmed D, et al. Positive parental attitudes to participating in research involving newborn screened infants with CF. *J Cyst Fibros* 2013;12(3):234-40. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2012.09.001
133. Kain ZN, Mayes LC, O'Connor TZ, et al. Preoperative anxiety in children. Predictors and outcomes. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* 1996;150(12):1238-45. doi: 10.1001/archpedi.1996.02170370016002
134. Douglas TA, Pooley JA, Shields L, et al. Early disease surveillance in young children with cystic fibrosis: A qualitative analysis of parent experiences. *J Cyst Fibros* 2020 doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2020.10.001
135. O'Sullivan M, Wong GK. Preinduction techniques to relieve anxiety in children undergoing general anaesthesia. *Continuing Education in Anaesthesia Critical Care & Pain* 2013;113(6):196-99.
136. Brown EA, De Young A, Kimble R, et al. Review of a Parent's Influence on Pediatric Procedural Distress and Recovery. *Clin Child Fam Psychol Rev* 2018;21(2):224-45. doi: 10.1007/s10567-017-0252-3
137. Abbott J. Coping with cystic fibrosis. *J R Soc Med* 2003;96 Suppl 43:42-50.
138. Quittner AL, Abbott J, Georgiopoulos AM, et al. International Committee on Mental Health in Cystic Fibrosis: Cystic Fibrosis Foundation and European Cystic Fibrosis Society consensus statements for screening and treating depression and anxiety. *Thorax* 2016;71(1):26-34. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2015-207488
139. Wong MG, Heriot SA. Parents of children with cystic fibrosis: how they hope, cope and despair. *Child Care Health Dev* 2008;34(3):344-54. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2214.2007.00804.x
140. Cystic Fibrosis Foundation. Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Patient Registry 2017 Annual Data Report. Bethesda, Maryland, 2018.

